Nelson Mullins

Nelson Mullins Riley & Scarborough LLP
Attorneys and Counselors at Law
1320 Main Street / 17th Floor / Columbia, SC 29201
Tel: 803.799.2000 Fax: 803.256.7500
www.nelsonmullins.com

Matthew A. Abee
Tel: 803.255.9335
matt.abee@nelsonmullins.com

February 11, 2014

Hand Delivered

The Honorable Daniel E. Shearouse
Clerk of Court
South Carolina Supreme Court
Post Office Box 11330
Columbia, SC 29211

RECEIVED

FEB 11 2014

S.C. Supreme Court

RE: Randy Thomas v. State of South Carolina
Appellate Case No.: 2013-001287
Our file no.: 38769/01510

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

I.

Whether trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance, in derogation of the Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution by failing to present character evidence during the jury trial where Thomas's character was the seminal issue in the case.

II.

Whether trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance, in derogation of the Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution by failing to object or request a mistrial based upon a violation of the sequestration order by the State's witness.

III.

Whether, even if no single error is sufficient standing alone, the cumulative effect of trial counsel's errors caused the deprivation of effective assistance of counsel as provided by the Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Introduction

Testimony at trial alleged that on October 30, 2004, Randy Thomas (“Thomas”) arrived unannounced and uninvited at the house of the victim’s parents in Irmo, South Carolina, while only the victim—Thomas’s former girlfriend and roommate—and her three-year old son were present at the house. (App. 458-73.) After the victim alleged to have struggled with Thomas, testimony indicated that he carried the victim into her parents’ bedroom, took off her clothes, and required her to perform oral sex on him. (App. 468-73.) Thereafter, the victim alleged that Thomas then attempted to have vaginal intercourse, but she told him to stop. (App. 474-78.) Thomas complied, though testimony regarding whether he did so before or after vaginal penetration occurred was contradictory. (App. 478, 539.) Thomas maintained that the interaction was consensual and testified to that effect. (App. 941, 952, 1033.) Apart from the victim and Thomas, no other witnesses observed the events that took place inside the house.

Thomas was then alleged to have grabbed a knife from the kitchen and put it to the back of the victim’s neck before putting the knife in his pocket. (App. 489.) The victim then testified that Thomas picked up her son and took him outside where he put him in a car and drove away. (App. 490.) The victim testified that Thomas stopped and let her son out of the car before leaving the scene. (App. 497.)

After Thomas left the scene, the victim’s neighbor, Katria Weyl, who had witnessed Thomas drive off, comforted the victim and spoke with her about what happened while she waited on the police to arrive. (App. 618.) Officer Rodney Gonzales arrived at the scene after being dispatched. (App. 585.) Officer Gonzales spoke with the victim who told him what

happened in front of Weyl. (App. 620.) The victim told Officer Gonzales all the details of the incident and alleged that Thomas had sexually assaulted her. (App. 586-89.) Following this discussion, Investigator Roy Livingston arrived at the scene, and Officer Gonzales told him what the victim said transpired. (App. 650.) Investigator Livingston then talked to the victim who told him the details of the events. (App. 651-54.)

Investigator Livingston then followed the victim to Palmetto Richland Memorial Hospital for a “sexual protocol.” (App. 658.) The victim called her friend, Ashley Mishoe, and told her what happened while on the way to the hospital. (App. 562.) Mishoe met the victim at the hospital shortly after she was admitted. (App. 631.) It was not until 9:45 p.m. that evening when Dr. John Stewart, an emergency room physician, conducted a physical examination. (App. 631.) Dr. Stewart did not speak with the victim until over seven and a half hours after Officer Gonzales was dispatched to the scene. (App. 631.) During that examination, the victim told Dr. Stewart about her physical symptoms, but then also told him every detail of the chain of events. (App. 629-30.) Two days later, the victim also gave a written statement to Investigator Brian Godfrey. (App. 845.)

B. Procedural History

On February 16, 2005, the Richland County Grand Jury returned true bill indictments against Thomas for First Degree Criminal Sexual Conduct (“CSC”), 2005-GS-40-10296, Assault and Battery of a High and Aggravated Nature (“ABHAN”), 2005-GS-40-10297, and two counts of Kidnapping, 2005-GS-40-10298, -10299.¹ (App. 1128-36.) From February 6-10, 2006, the State tried Thomas before the Honorable James W. Johnson, Jr. and a jury. Richland County Public Defenders LaNelle DuRant, Esquire, and Jeanette VanGinhoven,

¹ One count of kidnapping concerned the victim, and one count concerned the victim’s son.

Esquire (the “trial counsel”), represented Thomas. On February 10, 2006, the jury returned a verdict of “guilty” on all four counts. (App. 1125.) At sentencing, trial counsel introduced sixteen different character reference letters and presented the testimony of two character witnesses, Terry Burnett and his son, Knox. (App. 1321-27.) Judge Johnson then sentenced Thomas to concurrent twenty-two year prison terms for the CSC and the two counts of kidnapping. (App. 1127.) The judge also imposed a concurrent ten year prison term for the ABHAN count. (App. 1127.)

Thomas served his notice of direct appeal on February 14, 2006, and filed his final brief with the Court of Appeals on October 27, 2008. (App. 1141.) Thomas’s brief argued that (1) the trial court erred in admitting evidence according to *State v. Lyle*, 125 S.C. 406, 118 S.E.2d 803 (1983); and (2) the trial court violated Thomas’s right to confrontation by admitting evidence at trial over his chain of custody objection. (App. 1145.) The Court of Appeals affirmed the conviction in an unpublished opinion pursuant to South Carolina Appellate Court Rules, Rule 220(b)(1). (App. 187-89, *State v. Thomas*, No. 2009-UP-437, 2009 S.C. App. Unpub. LEXIS 436, at *1-2 (Ct. App. September 10, 2009)). The South Carolina Supreme Court denied certiorari on March 2, 2011, without opinion. (App. 181.)

On February 23, 2012, Thomas filed his Application for Post Conviction Relief (“PCR”). (App. 174-79.) Thomas’s court-appointed PCR counsel, Kristy Goldberg, Esquire, filed an amended application on December 21, 2012.² (App. 163-66.) The Honorable G. Thomas Cooper held a hearing on Thomas’s PCR application and on May 10, 2013, he denied

² In his amended Application for Post-Conviction Relief, Thomas asserted that the trial court erred in failing to charge the jury that false imprisonment is a lesser-included offense of kidnapping. (App. 165.) On appeal, Thomas waives this issue. *See State v. Berntsen*, 295 S.C. 52, 54, 367 S.E.2d 152, 153 (1988) (holding that the crime of false imprisonment has been incorporated as one method of proving kidnapping.)

Thomas's PCR application in a twenty-two page order. (App. 1-22.) On June 7, 2012, Thomas filed his notice of appeal.

ARGUMENTS

The United States Supreme Court has set forth a two-pronged test to establish ineffective assistance of counsel requiring the petitioner to prove that: (1) counsel's performance was deficient, and (2) the deficient performance prejudiced the defense. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984); *Holden v. State*, 393 S.C. 565, 572, 713 S.E.2d 611, 615 (2011). "Where counsel articulates a *valid* reason for employing certain strategy, such conduct will not be deemed ineffective." *Underwood v. State*, 309 S.C. 560, 562, 425 S.E.2d 20, 22 (1992) (emphasis added). "The validity of counsel's strategy is reviewed under 'an objective standard of reasonableness.'" *Lounds v. State*, 380 S.C. 454, 462, 670 S.E.2d 646, 650 (2008) (quoting *Ingle v. State*, 348 S.C. 467, 470, 560 S.E.2d 401, 402 (2002)). The burden is on the PCR applicant to prove the allegations in his application. *McHam v. State*, 404 S.C. 465, 473-74, 746 S.E.2d 41, 46 (2013). Although the Court gives great deference to the PCR judge's findings of fact and conclusions of law, *Dempsey v. State*, 363 S.C. 365, 368-69, 610 S.E.2d 812, 814 (2005), the court "will reverse the PCR judge's decision when it is controlled by an error of law." *Suber v. State*, 371 S.C. 554, 558-59, 640 S.E.2d 884, 886 (2007).

I. Trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance by failing to present character witnesses to the jury when trial counsel should have been aware that Thomas's character was the seminal issue in the case.

Because of the lack of independent eyewitnesses and other evidence, many sexual assault cases are decided upon whether the jury finds the defendant or the victim's testimony more convincing. *See, e.g. Sosebee v. Leeke*, 293 S.C. 531, 535, 362 S.E.2d 22, 24 (1987)

(noting that case “amounted to essentially a swearing contest” where “witness credibility was crucial”). This is because the jury is generally not presented with corroborating evidence but is instead left with two separate versions of the same story. Thus, in most sexual assault cases, the jury must determine whom it believes more—the victim or the defendant.

Such was the case in Thomas’s trial for criminal sexual conduct. Because the alleged sexual assault occurred exclusively within the victim’s parents’ residence, the State was not able to present an independent eyewitness to the jury. Furthermore, although the State did present some physical evidence in the case, that evidence was entirely consistent with a consensual sexual encounter—just as Thomas admitted. Thus, in order to prove its case, the State had to depend entirely upon the victim’s version of the events and Thomas’s inability to refute that testimony. To ensure that Thomas was unable to refute the victim’s testimony, the State took steps to undermine Thomas’s credibility in hopes that it could create a sufficient credibility gap that the jury would believe the victim’s testimony over Thomas’s assertions that she consented. The jury was thus left to determine whether it believed Thomas or the victim more. This decision put Thomas’s character directly in question and made the jury’s credibility determination the seminal issue in the case.

Prior to trial, Thomas provided trial counsel with sixteen character reference letters to be used at trial. (App. 126.) At the PCR Hearing, two of these character witnesses submitted affidavits stating that trial counsel never interviewed them or asked them to testify. (App. 75, 157-160.) Two additional witnesses testified at the PCR Hearing that they were prepared to testify but also were never approached by trial counsel. (App. 70, 75.) One witness in particular, Terry Burnett, the Continuing Legal Education Director of the South Carolina Bar

Association, testified at the PCR Hearing that he was present for the majority of the trial, but trial counsel never once asked him to testify. (App. 70.)

Instead of presenting these character witnesses to the jury, trial counsel used the evidence at sentencing. (App. 1321-27.) By this time, it was too late. Thomas had already suffered the consequences of the credibility gap that trial counsel created by failing to present the evidence to the jury. Exacerbating the credibility gap was trial counsel's failure to object to inadmissible corroborative hearsay testimony; failure to object to the State's admission of improper evidence of flight; and failure to object to improper evidence regarding Thomas's bond. These failures of counsel were deficient and caused the jury to lend a disproportionate weight to the victim's testimony while simultaneously discrediting Thomas's testimony unfairly. Therefore, trial counsel's failure to present the character witnesses prejudiced Thomas because trial counsel did not permit the jury to take into consideration valid evidence of his good character when weighing the credibility of his testimony against that of the victim's testimony.

A. Trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance because trial counsel's reason for failing to offer character evidence during the jury trial was not objectively reasonable.

When asked at the PCR Hearing if she should have considered calling character witnesses, trial counsel conceded that "I think in hindsight I think I should have done that. I think in all honesty I think I probably should have called character witnesses." (App. 117.) Trial counsel did not offer any reason for not doing so, other than to say that she should have called the witnesses. (App. 117.) It was not until some careful questioning by the State that trial counsel formulated the arguable grounds for not presenting the character witnesses. (App. 124-25.) These grounds, as explained by Judge Cooper, were that "there are substantial risks

associated with calling character witnesses as their testimonies may open the door for the state's introduction of evidence to rebut the character traits presented." (App. 15.) The Judge went on further to say that trial counsel made the affirmative decision to avoid that risk in favor of presenting the character witnesses in mitigation. (App. 16.)

However, trial counsel never testified that she made the conscious decision to present the evidence at sentencing instead of at trial. Rather, the opposite is true. (App. 125.) When asked on cross-examination if she remembered specifically deciding that calling character witnesses would be risky, trial counsel explicitly stated, "I don't remember necessarily making that decision." (App. 125.) In fact, the record establishes that trial counsel could not have made such a decision because trial counsel operated on an erroneous belief that Thomas's credibility was not in issue.³ (App. 63.)

Furthermore, trial counsel could not possibly have made that decision or have weighed the risk because she failed to conduct a reasonable investigation into the matter in derogation of her duty as Thomas's defense attorney. *See Lounds*, 380 S.C. at 460, 670 S.E.2d at 649 (citing *Ard v. Catoe*, 372 S.C. 318, 331-32, 642 S.E.2d 590, 597 (2007) ("[A]t a minimum, counsel has the duty to interview potential witnesses and to make an independent investigation of the facts and circumstances of the case.")). Trial counsel testified that while she thinks she spoke with one of the character witnesses, she did not remember even approaching any of the other fifteen or more possible witnesses. (App. 125.) Trial counsel could not remember conducting this investigation because she failed to do so. (App. 97); (App. 157-58, Ex. 6, Affidavit of Steve Ridlehoover) (stating that trial counsel never asked him about being a

³ Trial Counsel repeated this erroneous belief to Thomas when he asked her on several occasions about utilizing the character witnesses. (App. 63.)

witness even though he supplied her with a character reference letter prior to trial); (App. 159-60, Ex. 7, Affidavit of Anita Marcy) (same).

Even though she had this information months prior to trial, trial counsel could not have been in the position to weigh the risk of calling the character witnesses without investigating the existence of possible damning rebuttal evidence. (App. 62.) Thus, although trial counsel testified that it would have been appropriate, if not necessary, to call character witnesses during the trial, she was not able to do so because she failed to interview those witnesses altogether. This is especially true where one of the witnesses, Terry Burnett, testified at the PCR Hearing that he was present in the very courtroom where Thomas was tried, but was never called to the stand. (App. 70.)

The PCR Order's characterization of trial counsel's omission is not just a mischaracterization of the facts, but it is also an error of law. Although a conscious decision to avoid the risk associated with the possible rebuttal testimony may constitute a valid trial strategy as envisioned by *Underwood*, such is not the case here. Rather, trial counsel's failure to weigh the risk of the character witnesses' testimony is an objectively *unreasonable* trial strategy. *See Lounds*, 380 S.C. at 462, 670 S.E.2d at 650. Compounding this prejudicial error was trial counsel's wholesale failure to investigate the issue. This Court has held that such a violation establishes ineffective assistance of counsel. *See Id.* at 460, 670 S.E.2d at 649 (holding that, as a minimum, counsel has the duty to make an independent investigation of the circumstances of the case.) Trial counsel failed to do so here. Had trial counsel conducted the interviews, then she would have known that character was the critical issue for his defense.

B. Trial counsel's deficient performance prejudiced Thomas because his credibility was the seminal issue in the trial.

The importance of character evidence in a criminal case cannot be overemphasized. Our Court of Appeals has held that the jury may take the good reputation of the accused into consideration in determining whether he committed the crime. *State v. Harrison*, 343 S.C. 165, 171-72, 539 S.E.2d 71, 74 (Ct. App. 2000) (citing *State v. Hill*, 129 S.C. 166, 170, 123 S.E. 817, 818 (1924) (“Evidence of the defendant’s good reputation for peace and good order is strongly persuasive of his good character in that respect, and is offered for the very purpose stated by the circuit judge, to show the improbability that the defendant would have committed or did commit the crime charged.”)). South Carolina courts place such great weight on the accused’s character evidence that the failure to charge on its importance is itself reversible error. *State v. Lee-Grigg*, 374 S.C. 388, 418, 649 S.E.2d 41, 57 (Ct. App. 2007).

At trial, the State presented scant independently verifiable evidence of Thomas’s guilt. Instead, the vast majority of the State’s case relied on the testimony of the victim whose story numerous secondhand witnesses later parroted on the stand. (*See, e.g.* App. 562; (testimony of Mishoe); App. 587-89, 601; (Officer Gonzales); App. 618-20; (Weyl); App. 629-630; (Dr. Stewart); App. 651-55; (Officer Livingston).) Apart from the victim, the State was unable to provide any eyewitness testimony of the alleged sexual assault. Thus, the case turned upon the credibility of the victim in presenting her version of the events. As can be the case in many sexual assault cases because of the lack of independent eyewitnesses, this case became one largely of “he said, she said,” pitting the victim’s credibility against Thomas’s and making that the seminal issue in the case. *See, e.g. Sosebee*, 293 S.C. at 535, 362 S.E.2d at 24 (noting

that case “amounted to essentially a swearing contest” where “witness credibility was crucial”).

When asked later about discussing the case with the jurors at the PCR Hearing, trial counsel conceded this point, stating that she was told that the jurors “said that they simply found the victim more credible than Randy,” and that “they felt that Randy didn’t come across as a really good witness” (App. 119.) In fact, even the presiding judge stated, “I think to a large degree the case came down to the issue of credibility, and the [] jury, of course, is the only one who can make that determination.” (App. 1316.) The State illustrated the jury’s role in judging the credibility of the witnesses in closing argument:

And so how do you execute your duties as the judges of the facts? Well, you judge the credibility or the believability of every witness for the State, for the defense that took that witness stand, every single one, and you judge whether they were telling you the truth or whether they were telling you a lie.”

(App. 1025.)

In the face of this reality, however, trial counsel erroneously believed that Thomas’s credibility was not in issue and that the character witnesses would not help his perception with the jury. (App. 63.) As is discussed above, this was the basis for trial counsel’s decision not to present the character witnesses even after Thomas repeatedly asked her to do so. (App. 63.) Thomas’s requests evidence his position that character evidence was important and mirrors our Court’s treatment of the importance of such evidence. *See Harrison*, 343 S.C. at 171-72, 539 S.E.2d at 74 (holding that the jury may consider good reputation and court’s failure to instruct is a reversible error). Nevertheless, trial counsel declined to present the evidence of good character to the only one that could make such a credibility determination—the jury.

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