STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Richland County
Court of Common Pleas
G. Thomas Cooper, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Circuit Court Case No. 2012-CP-40-01543

Appellate Case No. 2013-001287

RECEIVED
JUN 13 2014
S.C. Supreme Court

RANDY THOMAS,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MEGAN E. HARRIGAN
Assistant Attorney General
SC Bar No. 100108

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

- I. There is evidence of probative value to support the post-conviction relief court's determination that Counsel was not ineffective for electing to present evidence of Petitioner's good character during sentencing phase of the trial as mitigation rather than during the guilt phase of the trial as evidence, where Counsel articulated a valid strategic reason for her decision and there is no reasonable likelihood that the result of the trial would have been different but for Counsel's alleged error.**

Petitioner argues the post-conviction relief court erred in determining that Counsel made a strategic decision not to present character witnesses during the guilt phase of Petitioner's trial, but rather, to present such evidence during the sentencing phase as mitigation. He asserts that because Counsel never personally spoke to every potential witness who supplied a letter on Petitioner's behalf, she could not have made such a determination, and if she did, that determination was unreasonable. Petitioner further asserts that he was highly prejudiced by this alleged deficiency, as his credibility was "the seminal issue in the trial," which he characterizes as filled with "scant independently verifiable evidence of [his] guilt." PWC p. 11.

Throughout his petition, Petitioner repetitiously states that the State "was unable to provide any eyewitness testimony [beyond the victim] of the alleged sexual assault," that the "case became one largely of 'he said, she said,'" and that all additional witnesses essentially "parroted" the victim's story. See PWC generally. Despite Petitioner's repeated complaints that the State presented no additional eyewitnesses to the assault during trial, none were necessary. Pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-657, the testimony of a criminal sexual conduct victim need not be corroborated, recognizing the common issue of a lack of independent witnesses in most sexual assault cases and that the perpetrator of a sexual assault should not be rewarded for having the foresight to commit his crimes in private. In the instant case, Petitioner committed the sexual

assault in private with no other witnesses present,¹ and therefore, the State could call no additional witnesses. Petitioner should not be rewarded, nor should the State be penalized, because Petitioner had the prudence to commit sexual assault without an audience.

This Court has consistently held that when “counsel articulates a valid reason for employing a certain strategy, such conduct will not be deemed ineffective assistance of counsel.” Smith v. State, 386 S.C. 562, 567, 689 S.E.2d 629, 632 (2010). In its Order of Dismissal, the post-conviction relief court found that Counsel “was able to credibly articulate a valid, reasonable strategic rationale for not calling character witnesses on [Petitioner]’s behalf during the guilt phase of the trial.” App. p. 16. In support of this ruling, the court cited Counsel’s testimony at the post-conviction relief hearing, where Counsel discussed the risks of opening the door with character witnesses, which would allow the State to present rebuttal witnesses to impugn Petitioner’s character. See App. p. 16-19. Counsel specifically testified that there was no possible way to know every detail about her client’s background, which was an obvious “fear when you start thinking about character evidence.” App. p. 19 Ins. 6-7. Counsel’s strategic decision not to call character witnesses based on a fear of opening the door to allow the State to call witnesses of their own to impugn Petitioner’s character is objectionably reasonable, particularly in light of Petitioner’s previous similar assault of the victim, history of mental health concerns, and prior record of drug use. See App. p. 302-314 (generally discussing Petitioner’s prior sexual assault of the victim); p. 1218 (generally discussing Petitioner’s inpatient treatment for mental health concerns); App. p. 1255 (regarding Petitioner’s prior drug conspiracy

¹ The victim’s three year old son was the only other person present when Petitioner entered the home of the victim’s parents. While the minor child was present for a portion of the physical abuse, Petitioner instructed him to stay downstairs and “watch cartoons” during the sexual assault that took place upstairs in the bedroom of victim’s parents. App. p. 467-68.

conviction). As Counsel articulated a valid, objectionably reasonable strategy for not presenting character witnesses during the guilt phase of Petitioner's trial, the post-conviction relief court correctly determined that Counsel's performance was not deficient.

Additionally, the post-conviction relief court correctly discerned that the letters and witnesses presented by Petitioner at the post-conviction relief hearing "did not provide any insight as to [Petitioner]'s character for veracity or truthfulness," but rather, "reflected [Petitioner]'s overall good character or reputation as a role model for young athletes." App. p. 17. The court correctly noted that "those character traits are *not* pertinent character traits of any of the crimes [Petitioner] was charged with, nor do they in any way assist the jury in determining the veracity of [Petitioner]'s testimony." App. p. 17 (emphasis in original). Whether Petitioner is an active participant in the youth athletics community is irrelevant to whether he sexually and physically assaulted his ex-girlfriend and kidnapped her and her toddler son, nor do these character traits reflect Petitioner's veracity and honesty. Petitioner failed to establish any resulting prejudice from the alleged failure to introduce character witnesses when the witnesses' testimony would have been absolutely irrelevant to the charges at hand and had no impact on Petitioner's trial.

Furthermore, there is no realistic likelihood that the outcome of Petitioner's trial would have been different but for Counsel's omission of character witnesses during the guilt portion of his trial, as the beneficial (albeit irrelevant) information they could have provided the jury was already introduced through Petitioner and defense witness James Aakhus. As the Court correctly noted, "testimony was presented to the jury by both James Aakhus and [Petitioner] which referenced [Petitioner]'s prior work history and involvement in the community as a coach and

referee in youth sports.” Therefore, the introduction of testimony from such character witnesses would have merely been cumulative. The post-conviction relief court correctly determined that Petitioner failed to establish that “there is a reasonable likelihood that the outcome at trial would have been different had the character witnesses been presented to the jury.” App. p. 18.

Accordingly, Petitioner failed to establish the requisite prongs of both deficient performance and resulting prejudice as required under Strickland. Therefore, the post-conviction relief court’s finding that Counsel was not ineffective should be affirmed.

II. The post-conviction court did not rule on the claim of ineffective assistance of counsel for failure to object to hearsay testimony. Therefore, this issue is not preserved for appellate review.

Petitioner contends that Counsel was ineffective for failing to object to improper hearsay testimony of various witnesses, which he repeatedly refers to as “parroting” the victim’s testimony. However, Petitioner did not raise this issue in his post-conviction relief application, amended application, or at the evidentiary hearing. At the post-conviction relief evidentiary hearing, there was no testimony whatsoever regarding Counsel’s failure to object to the various witnesses’ testimony of whom he now complains. However, there was very specific testimony presented regarding each of the allegations raised by Petitioner in his application for post-conviction relief. Additionally, the post-conviction relief court’s Order of Dismissal does not address this allegation. Thus, the issue is not preserved for appellate review.

It is well settled that an issue that has not been presented to or ruled upon by the lower court will not be considered on appeal. State v. Gee, 262 S.C. 373, 204 S.E.2d 727 (1974). If an issue is raised but not ruled upon, it is not preserved for appeal. State v. Watts, 321 S.C. 158, 467 S.E.2d 272 (1996). Only a matter that has been ruled on below can be reviewed, otherwise,

the appellate court would be exercising original jurisdiction. Gee, 262 S.C. 373, 204 S.E.2d 727. This also applies to post-conviction relief proceeding. See Burgess v. State, 402 S.C. 92, 738 S.E.2d 264 (Ct. App. 2013) (holding that an issue must be ruled upon by the post-conviction relief court to be preserved for appellate review).

Petitioner has not previously raised this issue and the post-conviction relief court did not rule on this allegation; therefore, it is not preserved for appellate review.

III. There is evidence of probative value to support the post-conviction relief court's ruling that Counsel was not ineffective for failing to object to the State's argument on evidence of flight, where Counsel articulated a valid trial strategy for not objecting and such an objection would have been overruled by the trial court, therefore having no impact on the outcome of Petitioner's trial.

Petitioner argues that the post-conviction relief court erred in its determination that Counsel was not ineffective for failing to object to the State's closing argument comments on Petitioner's flight after the crimes. Specifically, Petitioner asserts that the State's comments during closing were improper because they were in direct violation of the trial court's earlier ruling and there was no requisite showing of a nexus between the flight and the charges. Petitioner argues that because the comments on flight were improper, Counsel was deficient for failing to object to the comments. Petitioner asserts that he was prejudiced by Counsel's failure to object because it "allow[ed] the State to paint [Petitioner] as a fugitive evading the law when the real purpose of being in North Carolina was to seek mental health treatment."² This argument is without merit, as there is evidence of probative value to support the post-conviction relief court's ruling that Counsel articulated a valid trial strategy for not objecting and that such an objection would have had no impact on Petitioner's trial.

² At trial, Petitioner did not want the jury to hear any evidence or testimony relating to Petitioner's mental health treatment. However, Petitioner is now arguing that he was prejudiced by this omission, as it allowed the State to present him as a fugitive rather than someone voluntarily seeking mental health treatment.

At the evidentiary hearing, Counsel testified that she made a motion to suppress any reference to Petitioner's stay in North Carolina so that the jury would not draw negative, prejudicial inferences about his mental health treatment, not to prevent an argument about flight. App. 112-13. She testified that although she was not certain why she did not object to the solicitor's comments on flight during closing arguments, it was likely because "[she] just didn't want to draw attention to it" and that she generally avoids objecting during closing argument because it can have a negative effect on the jury. App. p. 113-14. Furthermore, she testified that Petitioner's speeding off in the car with the victim's minor child immediately after the crimes would also meet the requirements of flight. App. p. 114.

In its Order of Dismissal, the post-conviction relief court determined that the pre-trial discussion and agreement was only in regards to references about mental health treatment, not to restrict argument on Petitioner fleeing the scene after the crimes. This is supported by both the trial record and Counsel's testimony. App. p. 1218; p. 112-13. Additionally, the post-conviction relief court found that the flight argument made by the State was not improper. App. p. 12. Immediately after the crimes, Petitioner sped off in his vehicle, which was testified to by numerous witnesses. The court determined that Petitioner's assertions that he only became aware that he was wanted by South Carolina authorities once he was admitted to the North Carolina hospital were **not credible**. App. p. 13 (emphasis in original). Therefore, since the comments regarding flight were not improper, the post-conviction relief court properly discerned that Counsel was not deficient for failing to object to such comments.

Additionally, the post-conviction relief court found that Counsel articulated a valid trial strategy for not objecting to the State's comments regarding flight, noting that Counsel testified that she did not want to draw attention to the comments or create a negative impression with the jury for objecting during a closing argument. As discussed previously, when trial counsel presents an objectively reasonable and valid trial strategy, he or she will not be deemed deficient. Smith, supra. See Underwood v. State, 309 S.C. 560, 425 S.E.2d 20 (1992) ("Where counsel articulates a valid reason for employing a certain strategy, such conduct will not be deemed ineffective."). The post-conviction relief court properly determined that Counsel was not deficient in regards to this allegation.

Furthermore, the post-conviction relief court properly determined that Petitioner failed to establish any requisite prejudice from Counsel's alleged deficiency, as an objection would likely have been overruled. As discussed above, the State's comments regarding flight were not improper or objectionable. Furthermore, even if Counsel had objected to the flight comment in regards to his travels to North Carolina, the State still could have properly argued flight in regards to Applicant's high speed flight by vehicle from the scene that was observed by several witnesses. Based on the foregoing, there is evidence of probative value to support the post-conviction relief court's proper determination that Counsel was not ineffective in regards to this allegation.

IV. There is evidence of probative value to support the post-conviction relief court's ruling that Counsel was not ineffective for failing to object to testimony regarding Petitioner's bond hearings, where Counsel was ultimately able to use such testimony to Petitioner's benefit.

Petitioner argues that the post-conviction relief court erred in determining that Counsel was not ineffective for failing to object to the improper testimony of Investigator Godfrey

regarding Petitioner's bond proceedings. Specifically, Petitioner asserts that Godfrey's testimony that Petitioner was initially denied bond after an *ex parte* discussion between the magistrate judge, the victim, and the State was improper and prejudiced him. See App. p. 872-876. Petitioner acknowledges that there is no South Carolina authority to support his proposition that such questioning was improper but asserts that such questioning was improper because it was "unduly prejudicial" to Petitioner and "added to [Petitioner]'s character deficiency." PWC p. 19-20. He then goes on to assert that because Counsel did not have a valid strategy for not objecting, the failure to object was deficient. App. p. 21. This argument is without merit, as there is evidence of probative value to support the post-conviction relief court's determination that Counsel was not ineffective, as the testimony in question ultimately proved beneficial to Petitioner.

In its Order of Dismissal, the post-conviction relief court found that Counsel's performance was objectively reasonable, noting that Godfrey's testimony showed that Petitioner ultimately *was* granted bond and called Godfrey's credibility and character into question as he readily admitted that he had engaged in improper *ex parte* communications with the court while Petitioner was not present. App. p. 19. This is supported by probative evidence from the record. See Testimony of Godfrey, App. p. 872-876. Furthermore, on cross-examination, Counsel highlighted to the jury that another judge ruled that this prior conduct was improper and inappropriate. App. p. 881. Evidence of probative value supports the post-conviction relief court's determination that Counsel's performance was not "objectionably unreasonable" and that she was not deficient in regards to this allegation.

Furthermore, as discussed above, Godfrey's testimony was ultimately beneficial to Petitioner in regards to his bond proceedings, as it showed that Godfrey participated in improper conduct with the victim and that Petitioner was ultimately granted bond. Therefore, Petitioner cannot establish any requisite prejudice from this alleged deficiency. Based on the foregoing, the post-conviction relief court properly determined that Counsel was not ineffective in regards to this allegation and this ruling should be affirmed.

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